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Foreword by Greg Nicotero





July 1984


I’m flying down McKnight Road in Pittsburgh hitting about 70 miles per hour. My heart is racing. I am exhilarated. The cop behind me doesn’t seem as thrilled as I am, but what he doesn’t know is that I just got hired on DAY OF THE DEAD, for fuck’s sake! An hour before, I had met George and Christine Romero for lunch and these words came out: “We just got a green light on Day of the Dead … do you want a job?”


Now, we need a bit of history here. The roads between zombies and I intersected in very unique and strange ways in my youth. My uncle, Sam Nicotero, an actor, writer, and local disc jockey in the 1970s, wrote one of the first mainstream articles about George in Cinefantastique. He and George knew each other then – he actually had a supporting role in The Crazies. I grew up about twenty minutes from the Evans City Cemetery, where Night of the Living Dead was filmed, and I was in high school in 1977 when a friend mentioned that his dad worked at the Monroeville Mall and they were shooting a movie there. “Do you want to go visit?”


It goes on and on from there. In Pittsburgh, George’s contributions to the horror genre and, more specifically, zombies were nearly as popular as Iron City Beer, Primanti’s, and the Steelers. Thank God for Bill Cardille and Chiller Theatre: it was the one thing I anxiously awaited every Saturday, the chance to watch horror double features from 11:30pm until 3:00am. Cardille, a local weatherman, also played himself in Night of the Living Dead (see, I told you everywhere you looked it was zombies). It was on this program that I first saw an interview with George televised. Our worlds collided with full force in an Italian Restaurant in Rome during August of 1976. While on vacation with my family, I noticed a tall, lean, bearded man a few tables over and knew INSTANTLY that it was “The George Romero”. What are the chances of that? Of course, my younger brother and I were in awe, and once we were done not eating (’cause we were geeking out – even though I don’t think that term had been invented yet) we timed our departure with theirs.


“Hey, are you George Romero?” my brother Brian asked. He turned and smiled. “Yes!”


I stepped in, my hand outstretched. “My name is Greg Nicotero … I believe you know my uncle?” That was my opening line – of course, at thirteen that was pretty good.


He lit up, smiled and shook my hand. We chatted for a moment and then he said, “Come visit the office when you get back to ‘the ’burgh’.” Low and behold, on returning to the States I was even more enthralled with this man, and went to his office on Fort Pitt Boulevard several times to say hello, walk through the offices and get a taste of “Hollywood”.


Flash forward to to 1981. I had recently graduated from high school and was about to leave for college. George was prepping Creepshow, and I’d gone to visit while they were building the sets for “The Crate” in a warehouse, not seven miles from the mall. At this point, George and I had been trading VHS tapes – we had quite a collection and I’d offered to make him copies of any rare films he did not have. On one of my visits, I found myself on the stage, exploring the basement set where “Fluffy” was soon to be found, when I stumbled upon Tom Savini. He and his assistant, Darryl Ferrucci, were getting ready to meet Adrienne Barbeau, who had just arrived from LA, but in the midst of his prep Tom stopped, smiled, and introduced himself. Within an instant, a barrage of people entered, including George, Adrienne and a few other crew people. I graciously bowed out, vowing to return and visit. This is where it all changed. I had loved creature stuff – Planet of the Apes, The Exorcist, anything Harryhausen or Jack Pierce related – but becoming friends with Tom only solidified my interest in make-up. Granted, in Pittsburgh back then, the available filmmaking opportunities were pretty much only with this group of people, but I honestly never imagined that this hobby, this interest, would ever have taken me where it has.


Cut back to July and I am getting a speeding ticket. Oh well, what do I care? I just got hired on DAY OF THE DEAD! By the time I got home, I called Tom and very excitedly informed him that I’d just been hired and would like to be his assistant. One thing I had learned in my dealings with George and Tom was that Tom’s enthusiasm and passion for what he did was unparalleled, and to have a chance to work with him, handling the day-to-day tasks of wrangling résumés, ordering supplies and coordinating for him would allow me to get hands-on training, and leave Tom free to focus on realizing the gags at hand. This proved to be a perfect fit, and not only carved out a place for us to collaborate on many more projects, but allowed me to develop the skills that led me from Pittsburgh to New York then LA in a year’s time.


Day of the Dead has always marked the most creative period of my life. The transition to filmmaking, the relationships I cultivated with people who would forever change my life, and the ability to express my creative instincts changed me to the core. I wanted to remember every moment, every nuance as it happened. I photographed nearly every aspect of the production, documented the prep and shoot with Tom’s video camera, and even wrote an outline immediately after wrap with the hopes of crafting a “Making of” book. Sadly, at the time the book was deemed “competition” for Paul Gagne’s book about George and his films, The Zombies That Ate Pittsburgh. But lo and behold, so much of what I chronicled is represented here, in the dedicated hands of Lee Karr.
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Greg Nicotero inside the “whirlybird” helicopter on Sanibel Island, December 1984. (Courtesy of Taso Stavrakis.)








Gregory Nicotero,


From the set of The Walking Dead,


Spring 2013


Since beginning his career on Day of the Dead, Greg Nicotero has gone on to co-found one of the most successful and prolific make-up effects studios in the business: the prestigious KNB EFX Group. To date, his incredible efforts have won him four Emmy Awards, two Saturn Awards and a BAFTA award. Besides handling the makeup effects and zombies on The Walking Dead, Nicotero has become an executive producer and accomplished director on the popular television show.
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Greg Nicotero with zombie friend on the Georgia set of season four of The Walking Dead. (Courtesy of AMC Network Entertainment LLC.)

























Preface





Though I didn’t know it at the time, in 1985 my life changed forever. While watching one of my favorite TV shows, Late Night with David Letterman, I caught a demonstration by a man named Tom Savini, showcasing how gory make-up effects were created for horror films. Before this I was afraid to watch anything with blood in it, and would never watch horror films – never! I was basically a wuss. But Savini changed all of that with one television guest appearance.


That evening Savini was promoting the newest zombie film from George A. Romero, Day of the Dead. Somehow, I was aware of what these types of films were about. I knew that they showed explicit gore and people being eaten. How I knew that, I can’t quite remember. I think I’d figured it out from perusing video-store shelves, and assumed that they were definitely not for me. I mean, I cringed when Elliott cut his finger on a saw blade in Steven Spielberg’s E.T.! Seeing graphic scenes of blood and guts? No way.


Well, after Savini’s entertaining demonstration for Letterman my tune changed completely. I went to Waldenbooks in the Oglethorpe Mall in Savannah, Georgia, my hometown, and I looked through the various magazines on the rack until I discovered the latest issue of Fangoria magazine. Its cover read “Day of the Dead – Tom Savini’s Zombie FX”. That was it for me. I must have read that issue a million times, over and over again. I was totally fascinated by this film. I was hooked.


Just a couple of months later, on Halloween night to be exact, I had the opportunity to see Day of the Dead in the theater during its initial run. That night I went with my cousin, Jacquie, to see the film at the Abercorn Cinemas and, as we were standing in the lobby, the previous screening’s audience exited the auditorium. I’ll never forget one young teenage girl laughing about how disgusting and gross the movie was. I looked at Jacquie and thought: This is going to be awesome! And awesome it was. It did not disappoint at all. It was everything I’d hoped it would be, and then some.


After that I returned at least twice more to watch the film. Once, I think, by myself, which is funny since the box-office attendants never asked how old I was. The film contained scenes of violence, which may be considered shocking, and no one under seventeen was supposed to be admitted – never mind that I was fourteen! But thank goodness no one cared to ask. I had my money and that’s all that mattered.
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Me, with my beloved grandmother, Grace, sporting my Bub t-shirt. Christmas Day 1986. (Photo courtesy of Kay and Lee Karr.)
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The evening that would lead to me writing this book: cousin Jacquie (dressed as Madonna) and I on Halloween 1985, before heading out to the cinema to see Day of the Dead. (Photo courtesy of Kay and Lee Karr.)
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Me with stars, and good friends, Lori Cardille and John Amplas inside the Wampum Mine. January 2011. (Photo courtesy of Kay and Lee Karr.)








The other time was with my uncle, Kinnon. As we got to the end of the film and the gore montage began, Kinnon looked over at me and said, “Jesus Christ, Lee! What the hell did you take me to see?” What do you mean? I thought. Isn’t this awesome? This is great!
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Me with George Romero and his puppet mini-me in 2009. I’d just interviewed him at his Toronto home for Home Page of the Dead. (Courtesy of Lee Karr.)








A little over half a year later, in May 1986, the film was released on home video and I rented it over and over, mainly from my favorite video store, Turtle’s Records & Tapes. I believe I may have even hooked up my two VCRs and dubbed a copy. I bought the soundtrack album, got a reproduction poster of the one sheet, and wore out a t-shirt featuring Bub saluting with the film’s logo at the bottom. Around the same time, Tom Savini’s Scream Greats video was released, and it featured loads of behind-the-scenes footage from the film. Again, I devoured this repeatedly.


During this period I was in the NJROTC (Navy Junior Reserve Officers Training Corps) in high school, so, with my military enthusiasm at its zenith, I even got a pair of dog tags made – in my mind, just like the kind Captain Rhodes wore in the film. Later that year, my Mom gave me a birthday cake decorated with Bub’s face and the film’s logo. It was safe to say that Day of the Dead was one of my favorite movies.


Flash forward to the late 1990s, and I made my first ever trip to a Day of the Dead filming location when I visited Fort Myers, Florida. Exploring all of the downtown area, checking out sites like the Edison Theater and the First National Bank, I had a great time.


A couple of years later, I made my first trek to visit the Wampum Mine, where most of the film took place. I called ahead of time informing the manager that I wanted to check out the facility and take photos because a movie had been shot there back in the mid-1980s. When I arrived, somehow the story had morphed, and they thought I was a movie scout who wanted to take photos for a possible upcoming film. I informed the incredibly nice lady who greeted me, Therese McShea, that there was a misunderstanding: I wasn’t a movie scout, and if it was a problem I would leave. Instead, she told me no problem and took me on a tour anyway! My photos of that visit ended up being featured on Robert Telleria’s Day of the Dead website Dr. Logan, which at the time was a tremendous thrill.


One other interesting tidbit about that visit involves an article that appeared later that year (2000) in the New Castle News in New Castle, PA. It was about Lori Cardille returning to visit the mine after fifteen years, and mentions me – though not by name – as a man from Savannah, Georgia who traveled to the mine posing as a movie scout. It just goes to show that you can’t believe everything you read.
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With surgeon zombie Greg Nicotero on the Toronto set of Diary of the Dead in 2006. Note how Greg stays in character for the photo! (Courtesy of Greg Nicotero.)








Later on I would make return visits to Fort Myers and Sanibel, as well as the Wampum Mine. I would also make several journeys to the former Nike Missile Site to explore the elevator bay that was used in the film. Climbing under and jumping over fences, while risking getting caught for trespassing, just seemed like a risk worth taking. You know?


In 2003 Anchor Bay Entertainment released a special edition DVD of the film and, thanks to Michael Felsher, who was producing the DVD release, I had the opportunity to contribute photographs to it from the collection of Bill and Kathy Love, who were zombie extras in the opening scenes in downtown Fort Myers. Seeing my name listed alongside someone like Greg Nicotero in the thank you section of the DVD was, once again, a tremendous thrill.


Thanks to Norman England, a close friend who works in Japan, just recently I was able to help contribute to a Japanese blu-ray release of Day of the Dead from Nikkatsu, by arranging for Gary Klahr to write a brief essay about working on the film.


Over the years, and mainly after moving to Pittsburgh, I was fortunate enough to form friendships and relationships with a lot of the people who worked on the film, even venturing into the horror convention guest-booking business, in a part-time capacity. Lori Cardille, Terry Alexander, John Amplas, Phillip Kellams, Joe Pilato, Gary Klahr, Tim DiLeo, Taso Stavrakis, Michael Gornick, John Vulich, Mark Tierno, Debra Gordon, Barbara Russell, Eileen Sieff, and Jeff Monahan are some of the people that I’ve been lucky enough to work with on the convention scene.


I’ve gotten to know George Romero personally, even spending time in his Toronto home and chatting with him on the sets of his newer Canadian zombie features.


Going with Tom Savini and some close friends of mine to see Hal Holbrook perform Mark Twain Tonight and then – thanks to Tom – getting the opportunity to meet Mr. Holbrook backstage is a wonderful memory for me.


Greg Nicotero befriended me like I was someone he had known for years. Spending time in his LA home, visiting his company KNB EFX, being able to be a zombie extra in Land of the Dead, hanging out with Quentin Tarantino, Robert Rodriguez, Simon Pegg, Edgar Wright, and Frank Darabont – all of these things were made possible for me by Greg.
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Fan’s dream-come-true: my zombie cameo in Land of the Dead. My bloody makeup – courtesy of Greg Nicotero – was so graphic that my face (far-right) had to be airbrushed clean for this publicity still. (© 2005 Universal Studios.)








My friendship with Michael Gornick has been amazing. Getting to spend my first ever trip to the Pittsburgh Steelers training camp with Mike was a blast. Having the opportunity to drive to conventions with him, pick his brain and listen to his incredible stories about working with George Romero and Richard Rubinstein, and those years at Laurel, their production company, are priceless to me.


Being able to have dinner with Lori Cardille and her husband Jim and then going to a movie together. These things would have seemed absurd to me when I first watched the film and became fascinated by it. But you never know where life will take you, or the friendships you’ll make along the way. I could write a book solely about the memories and experiences I’ve had knowing all of these wonderful people.


In early 2010 I got the genius idea – and I use the word genius in the most sarcastic way possible – to write a book about the making of this film Day of the Dead. After all these years, there had never been one published, and I figured that if I wanted to see it happen, then I was going to have to make it happen myself. I set off on my journey by tracking down as many people as I could from the film and interviewing them – easily over 100 interviewees. With the help of Greg Nicotero, I had at my disposal a small filing cabinet’s worth of memos, files, and zombie sign-in sheets to aid me in this task.


During the journey this book has taken me on, I’ve dealt with a cancer diagnosis and surgery, the death of my beloved uncles Kinnon and Tollie, the death of my beloved cat, George, who earned his namesake due to my George Romero fandom, and the wrath of one my idols – Tom Savini. Despite all of this, I’ve kept my nose to the grindstone and attempted to write a book that I, myself, as a fan, would want to read about the making of this film. I hope that you, the reader, will enjoy this book and hopefully learn something that you didn’t know about Day of the Dead’s creation.


Lee Karr


Pittsburgh, PA








[image: ]

Back page of the 1978 official Dawn of the Dead poster book, which briefly mentions the then scheduled 1988 release date of Day of the Dead. (Originally published by MW Communications. © 1978 The MKR Group, Inc.)

























Chapter 1 The Dawn of a New Day







In 1968, George A. Romero began a three-film trilogy tracing the growth of a “zombie” society. The first film was the now classic Night of the Living Dead. Dawn of the Dead (in ‘Living’ color) is his long-awaited second film. The last film, Day of the Dead, should hit the screens about 1988.





A former Pittsburgh publishing company, MW Communications, printed those words on the back page of the official Dawn of the Dead poster book in 1978. The grand vision Romero had for his trilogy’s conclusion was just a germ of an idea back when he created the original Night of the Living Dead in the late 1960s. His original story, referred to as Anubis, was divided into three parts. The first act would introduce the oncoming of a new society, a zombie society; however, the humans would still be in control. The second act would take place at a point when the balance is equal, with no one side gaining an edge. The third act of his story, which was nothing more than a brief paragraph then, featured gun-toting zombies chasing a lone surviving human who they eventually shoot and kill. Years later, the proposed release date on the Dawn of the Dead poster book was just the first of many changes in store for George A. Romero and the third act of his zombie parable, Day of the Dead.


To fully understand the story of how Day of the Dead ended up becoming the film it is, you have to go back to 1978, and the deal that Romero’s producer Richard P. Rubinstein entered with the Hassanein family of United Film Distribution Company (UFDC). The small distribution house was run by United Artists Theater mogul Salah Hassanein and his son, Richard Hassanein. The little distributor had made a name for itself a year earlier, in 1977, by releasing the John Landis comedy The Kentucky Fried Movie.


Before getting too far into the story of the Hassaneins, though, you need to backtrack just a little bit further, to the partnership that George Romero formed with Richard Rubinstein.


 


In 1973, Richard Rubinstein met George Romero for an article he was writing about the director for Filmmakers’ Newsletter, which would coincide with the release of Romero’s The Crazies. Interestingly enough, Rubinstein had turned down an opportunity to work on The Crazies when famed film distributor Irvin Shapiro, who also dealt with Romero, offered him a job on the production. Both men were native New Yorkers – Romero from the Parkchester neighborhood of the Bronx, Rubinstein from Brooklyn – and got along well during the interview. This meeting spawned a friendship that would eventually lead to a successful twelve-year business partnership between the two men. Rubinstein had attended Columbia University in New York, where he received his MBA, after getting his undergraduate degree from the American University in Washington, DC. Rubinstein helped form The Laurel Group with Romero, and together they would go on to produce a series of sports documentaries called The Winners, which led to their first feature, Martin, which would eventually lead to Dawn of the Dead. Rubinstein proved himself to be a shrewd businessman; helping to lead Romero out of a dark financial period, when going bankrupt had been a strong possibility for the filmmaker. (Romero’s apparent lack of business sense will be explored later, when producer David Ball enters the story.)


Truly the embodiment of the American dream, Salah M. Hassanein came to the United States from Egypt as a young man in 1945. He served in the US military and after his service started work as an usher for the Skouras Theaters Corporation. He worked his way up the ladder to become the corporation’s president by the early 1960s. Eventually he would become the executive vice president of United Artists Communications and president of United Artists Eastern Theaters. “I mean, nothing extraordinary,” says the modest elder Hassanein. He made his home on Hoffstot Lane overlooking the Long Island Sound, which was featured in F. Scott Fitzgerald’s classic novel The Great Gatsby. During this period he would form United Film Distribution Company and hand over the controls to his son, Richard Hassanein. In 1978, during a fateful trip to the MIFED (Mouvement International des Femmes Démocrates) film market in Milan, Italy, Richard Hassanein would cross paths with Rubinstein and Romero. It turned out to be a prosperous encounter for both parties.


“We acquired Dawn of the Dead for distribution for North America,” says Richard Hassanein. “I saw that for the first time at MIFED in Milan – Dawn of the Dead – and that was my introduction to Romero and Rubinstein. And then after our relationship developed we entered into a three-picture deal.


“The way I remember the deal being structured,” he continues, “we didn’t have any designated projects except for Day of the Dead.” The relationship with UFDC would bring great financial success for Romero and Rubinstein’s company The Laurel Group – later to become a public company named Laurel Entertainment – but at the same time it would significantly alter the fate of Day of the Dead.
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The May 4, 1983 advertisement in Variety magazine for future Laurel Entertainment productions, including early poster art for the film.








Until that eventful meeting with Richard Hassanein in Milan, Romero and Rubinstein had struggled to find a distributor for Dawn of the Dead. Their biggest issue was the graphic violence and “Grand Guignol” in the film, which they refused to cut to secure an R rating with the Motion Picture Association of America (MPAA). If they were willing to cut some of the blood and guts from the picture, both Warner Bros. and Sam Arkoff’s American International Pictures would be interested in distributing the film. The idea of going out with an R rating and a tamer film was, however, simply unacceptable to Romero. Eventually the film would end up with the Hassaneins at UFDC, who agreed to distribute the film without an MPAA rating. “I called New York [UFDC offices], I said, ‘I want to buy a picture, but it doesn’t have a rating,’ and they said, ‘We’re going to have to discuss that a little more,’” recalls Richard Hassanein. “So I told George and Richard I needed to have a screening for my executives in New York and we would give him the decision whether we would go with the picture in the version it was in or not. If not, then he was free to go with Sam Arkoff or anyone else. When I screened it for my executives they all felt that the film that had to be released was the version that George wanted, otherwise the fans would have felt ripped off. And it was really kind of a no-brainer.”


Dawn of the Dead would go on to perform extremely well at the box office in 1979, and as a result of its performance UFDC offered a three-picture deal to The Laurel Group. An important condition of the deal was that one of the films produced would have to be the final part of Romero’s zombie trilogy, Day of the Dead, and it would also have to be completed by 1985. “The three pictures ended up being Knightriders, Creepshow, and Day of the Dead,” recalls Richard Hassanein. “The deal was struck maybe about a year after the release of the picture, of Dawn of the Dead. So there were two pictures unnamed, but it was a three-picture deal and Day of the Dead was specified.”


According to the United States Copyright Office, a copyright for a third Romero zombie film was secured when The Laurel Group registered a five-page synopsis for Day of the Dead on December 13, 1979. After the release of Creepshow, while on vacation in California, Romero would begin the process of writing the first draft of his now legendary original script for Day of the Dead. On December 28, 1982, a 216-page first draft of the Day of the Dead screenplay was registered for copyright by Laurel Entertainment under the claim of “New Matter: Screenplay Version”. Just a little over two weeks later, on January 13, 1983, another copyright was registered for a 145-page screenplay entitled Old Soldiers Never Die, Satan Sends Them Back!: Day of the Dead by Laurel Entertainment, this time under the claim of “New Matter: Revisions & Additions”. “I was looking for something like the thing in Dawn, you know, ‘When there’s no more room in hell,’ so I just came up with a line,” recalls Romero on the genesis of that peculiar title.


 


On Saturday, February 25, 1978, George Romero was a guest of Pittsburgh Post-Gazette film critic, George Anderson, on channel 53 WPGH-TV for a screening of Night of the Living Dead. It was the first time that the film had ever been shown on local Pittsburgh television and, following the feature presentation, Romero was interviewed by Anderson about the film. It was a remarkable evening. Not only did Romero get to see his classic debut film presented on Pittsburgh television for the very first time, it also provided him with an opportunity to show unedited clips from his just completed sequel, Dawn of the Dead. It was the first time fans laid eyes on footage from the film, most of which was very raw.


During the interview with Anderson, Romero briefly mentioned the third zombie film while discussing Dawn of the Dead and gave a hint as to where the series would go. “The zombies are a little more sympathetic. We see them organizing slightly now and if there’s ever a third film that’s what it will be about,” said Romero to Anderson. “Dario Argento, who we’re co-producing this film with, an Italian director, said that the third one has to be ‘Zombies in the White House’. And maybe that’s what it will be, I don’t know [smiles].”
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Tom Savini with United Film Distribution Company president, Richard Hassanein. (Photo courtesy of Richard Hassanein.)








Over a year later, while promoting the release of Dawn of the Dead, Romero was interviewed by Kevin Thomas in the Friday, June 22, 1979 edition of the Los Angeles Times. At one point during the interview, the topic of film offers was brought up and Romero delivered a humorous statement about the conclusion to his zombie trilogy. “Everyone wants to do the third part of the Living Dead Trilogy, but I don’t want to do that right now,” said Romero. “All I have is a sketch for it. I’m threatening to do a ‘Zombies at Home’, a kind of ‘My Three Sons’, non-violent and totally boring.”
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George Romero, unknown female guest, UFDC president Richard Hassanein, and actress Cynthia Adler at a New York City party celebrating Knightriders in 1981. (Photo courtesy of Richard Hassanein.)








The original script for Day of the Dead ended up being anything but boring. It was a massive, sprawling, action-adventure film – with zombies! Some of the original characters would survive and end up in the revamped filmed version, while others would be combined together into one character, or discarded completely. The following plot summary is from the 155-page second version of Romero’s first draft.
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George Romero directing zombie extra, Gary Peabody, on the Pittsburgh set of Dawn of the Dead, 1977. (Courtesy of Tony Buba.)








Romero’s original unfilmed storyline opens in a similar way to the filmed version. We’re presented with a desolate downtown Fort Myers, Florida, and descriptions of empty, abandoned buildings. There are many more alligators in this version of the opening. The gators scurry through the streets and alleyways in fear of the undead, who now dominate the dead city. The jawless zombie that signals the actual film’s opening title is also included in this script. Romero wonderfully describes a corpse hanging from a noose on top of a tall building, with a sign on his chest that reads: “Take me, Lord. I love you.” Suddenly it comes crashing down after the rope breaks, and the bones shatter on the ground below. The sign the poor suicide victim had on his chest blows away on the wind toward the harbor.


This leads us into a spectacular and harrowing action sequence filled with gun battles, explosions, and plenty of zombie carnage that spans over 20 pages of the script, involving two different groups of guerilla fighters battling on a marina boat dock. We are introduced to some familiar names during this opening, including Sarah and Miguel. Unlike the filmed version, though, Miguel is not a soldier and Sarah is not a scientist – they are rebel fighters. Most of the guerillas are killed in this opening spectacle, except for Sarah, Miguel, and another unnamed character referred to as Man #2 (later, in a more tightly-scripted version of this same storyline, he would be called Chico). During the battle Miguel is bitten by a zombie and, as she does in the filmed version, Sarah quickly amputates his arm with a machete in an attempt to save his life. Miguel, who is already on the brink of insanity, is now pushed even further over the edge.


Sarah, the unnamed man, and Miguel eventually flee in their boat to a nearby island. As they make their way across the swampy wetlands they encounter alligators and rattlesnakes. Miguel eventually succumbs to the heat and delirium and passes out, so Sarah and the other man head out to explore the nearby surroundings. As they explore they are stunned to discover a platoon of military soldiers on a giant elevator platform that rises from a large underground compound. The script offers its first glimpse of Captain Rhodes – described by Romero as a supervillain of the first order – who is busy training a group of zombies wearing red vests, nicknamed “Red Coats”, who have been taught to use weapons. Eventually it becomes clear that there are different ranks of these soldier zombies, with “Blue Coats” and “White Coats” as well. A strange siren noise rings out and zombies appear from the jungle! Rhodes feeds the zombies human meat from refrigerated cartons as a way to placate them. While watching the macabre scene unfold, Sarah and the man with her are attacked by zombies coming out of the jungle and forced to open fire in order to save their lives. Rhodes hears the firing and sends his soldiers out to investigate. Another fire fight breaks out, this time between Sarah, the man, and Rhodes’ soldiers.


Suddenly Miguel, who has essentially gone mad by this point, appears out of nowhere, wildly firing his weapon. He is eventually shot and killed by Captain Rhodes’ group of special zombie commandos. During the fight, the unnamed man is shot and taken prisoner by Rhodes, while Sarah escapes into the jungle. He’s strung up from a tree and tortured by Rhodes until a subordinate soldier, Toby Tyler, kills him out of mercy. Moments before this happens we get a brief glimpse into the sadistic mind of Rhodes, as he amuses himself by placing a grenade inside the mouth of a zombie and watches it struggle until the grenade goes off, killing the zombie and several others nearby. The shot that kills the tortured man sends Rhodes into a rage. He already has it in for Toby, and this action infuriates the captain even further.


Meanwhile, Sarah is struggling to make her way through the jungle. She has an encounter with a zombie near a stream that is described brilliantly by Romero. The zombie is standing in the marsh, with vultures at its feet picking bloody holes into its rotten flesh. Sarah flees and runs into a man named John and his friend, Bill McDermott, two more names that will ring a bell for fans. In this first version, however, John is not a helicopter pilot, but a spiritual leader, and Bill is a repair man rather than a radio communications guy. Two more characters, a deaf mute named Spider and a young man named Mapmaker, are also with them. John and Bill inform Sarah that she is on Gasparilla’s Island, named after the legendary pirate. However, it’s the former Governor of Florida, Henry Dickerson, who now uses that moniker and controls the island. After a couple of harrowing encounters with zombies and alligators, in which some zombies are killed, the group takes off together through the jungle. The zombies that are killed and left behind will come back into play later on, however.


Back in the underground compound, we observe classes of zombies being “trained” by videos that instruct them who to shoot, based on what color of vest they wear (orange is a safe color for humans). Captain Rhodes then enters a special unit in the compound, which houses the elite “Red Coats”: zombies named Tonto, Bluto, Fatso, Grumpy, Samson, and one very familiar name … Bub. Rhodes is feeding the zombies severed human heads – one of which belonged to the tortured prisoner from earlier – when he is confronted by two scientists named Mary Henried and Julie Grant. (The characters of scientist Mary Henried and rebel fighter Sarah would eventually be combined into one character, Sarah, for the revamped filmed version.) Mary is furious with Rhodes for feeding the zombies human flesh because the scientists have been trying to wean the zombies onto alligator meat. Julie is shocked to learn what Rhodes is doing and runs off upset, especially at Mary for being aware that it was being done, even though Mary did not condone these actions. During the fight we also learn that Mary and Rhodes once had a brief affair.


After her confrontation with Rhodes, Mary heads back to her living quarters, when she runs into Toby Tyler. It becomes apparent that Mary and Toby are lovers, which explains why Rhodes has it in for Toby. During their talk, Rhodes sends soldiers to arrest Toby for the shooting of the tortured prisoner. He is taken away and banished to a place known as Stalag 17.


Stalag 17 introduces the degenerated world spawned by the zombie plague, which is graphically – and at times hilariously – described by Romero. People defecating in the streets, open drug abuse, prostitution, and perverted sex. John, Bill, Mapmaker, Spider, and Sarah make their way to the hospital in Stalag 17. It’s here that Dr. Logan is introduced, as he saws the head off a corpse. It transpires that John, Bill, Mapmaker and Spider are allies with Dr. Logan. Sarah is introduced to the circle of rebel friends, including some more characters, one by the name of Diesel. After their meeting, John and Bill escort Sarah to her new home in Stalag 17, nicknamed “The Ritz” – a large room filled with cots and many suffering people.


The next morning Sarah is awakened by the sound of Rhodes’ voice outside in the street. He has discovered the bodies of the zombies that Sarah and John’s group killed the night before. He wants to know who is responsible, and how the perpetrators were able to get outside of the complex to begin with. As proof that he means business, he executes three people in the street and promises to return the next day to do the same unless the ones responsible step forward.


The script cuts back to inside the complex and observes the scientists working with the “Red Coat” zombies some more. Bub demonstrates his skill in handling a weapon and Mary’s bond with the trained zombies becomes evident.


A glimpse of Ted Fisher is then offered, as he attempts to get zombies to eat alligator meat – with forks! Mary spies Julie Grant and attempts to talk to her, but Julie storms off, wanting nothing to do with Mary.


In another section of the compound, in the council chamber room, Gasparilla is finally introduced. A kangaroo court is taking place, and the former Governor of Florida demonstrates his megalomania as he decides the fate of a prisoner on trial. A second trial follows – this time Toby Tyler is being tried for shooting the tortured prisoner, with Captain Rhodes acting as prosecutor. Tyler is eventually sentenced to live temporarily in Stalag 17 for several months. Afterwards, Gasparilla insists on Mary attending a private party in his quarters. The scene is described hysterically by Romero, as party-goers dine on hors d’oeuvres and drink wine, all while watching a cage fight between two zombies battling for a scrap of human meat. The decadence continues as Gasparilla orders the females to strip and work out, using his gym equipment, to satisfy his bizarre fetish. Mary is disgusted by the display, and is all but held captive for the night by the fat and boorish general.


The following day Rhodes returns to Stalag 17, this time entering “The Ritz”, and terrorizes the residents again by executing several more people. John informs Sarah that Rhodes is just looking for an excuse to kill people to feed them to the trained zombies. Overhearing this conversation, Toby introduces himself to John and tells him that he has a plan to escape the island.


Later that day, Toby meets up with John and the other rebels at the hospital in Stalag 17 to organize some of the supplies that Toby’s friend, Tricks, has smuggled out to him via Red Cross crates. Dr. Logan prepares vials of nitroglycerine that will be used by the rebels in a plan to destroy the powder magazine in the compound, which would cause a catastrophic explosion, nearly destroying the island altogether. Dr. Logan has clearly gone insane. John, Sarah, Mapmaker and Toby leave to formulate a plan to do some damage inside the cave – but nothing catastrophic – and then get back to the boat that Sarah arrived on a few days before so they can all leave together. They’ll get a little help in executing their plan from Datura Metel, a toxic flower that grows on the island. When they return they discover that Dr. Logan has left with some of the other rebels – including Spider, under whose skin Dr. Logan has implanted the vials of nitroglycerine. They are headed for the compound to accomplish their mission of destroying the island. Along the way, Dr. Logan is attacked by a zombie – with a metal hook for a hand! Dr. Logan’s group manages to escape, however, and they make it inside the compound, while the other group of rebels (with Toby at the helm) takes off for the compound as well. Toby wants to save Mary before the compound is destroyed by the insane Dr. Logan. It’s revealed that Julie Grant has partnered, along with Ted Fisher, to help Spider and Dr. Logan with their plan. However, she was unaware of the full scope of what the rebels had intended. During a gun battle with some of the guards, Fisher is killed and control panels are destroyed, which automatically opens all of the doors to the compound. In a control room the crazed Dr. Logan pulls the feeding siren, which brings the zombies out of the jungle. The zombies head toward the cave looking for their “food”. Julie Grant and Dr. Logan are both devoured by zombies inside the control room.


There is total chaos as alarms blare throughout the cave and zombies roam freely – a sight “straight out of Dracula’s tomb”, as Romero describes it. Spider, along with Diesel, begins her journey to the powder magazine. Meanwhile, Mary is attempting to help a group of children to safety as they are pursued by Rhodes and his soldiers. They run into the area where the trained soldier zombies are kept. Mary quickly hands out weapons to Bub and the other zombies and removes her orange vest. She desperately tries to get the zombies to shoot at the orange vest, which they eventually do. Suddenly the soldiers burst inside, wearing orange vests, and Bub and his fellow “Red Coats” open fire on them, allowing Mary and her party to escape.


During all of this there is total carnage unfolding inside the complex. Gasparilla and his cohorts are trapped in his chambers, which the zombies have overrun. People are torn apart and devoured, including Gasparilla himself. By this time, Mary and the children have met up with Toby and the other rebels. They flee the compound and head into the jungle towards Sarah’s boat. On their way out they come across the body of Miguel, which is still lying on the jungle floor – unrevived.


The action is fast and furious during the finale. Rhodes is bitten by a zombie, abandoned by the rest of his soldiers, and stalked by Bub, who shoots him during a showdown. By now Diesel has managed to guide Spider through the cave towards the powder magazine. They are besieged by zombies and Diesel is killed. Spider is finally able to get close to the powder magazine, but is also attacked by zombies. One zombie bites her and pulls out a vial of the nitroglycerine. He takes it out of his mouth and flings it towards the door of the powder magazine, causing a massive explosion that destroys the entire compound and everything in it.


The following morning the group of rebels starts a new day, and hopefully a new society, on another nearby island. John performs a baptism of the children and adults in a river. The script ends with John and Sarah keeping watch on the unrevived bodies of Mapmaker and Tricks, who died during the battle to escape. They keep watch, hoping that the zombie plague is finally over. Romero ends the script with a little wink to the audience: “The End (I promise)”.


 


In the summer of 1980, on the set of Knightriders, Romero was interviewed by Cynthia Heimel for the July 21, 1980 issue of New York magazine for an article entitled “The Living Dead Ride Again”. Talking about the business side of his productions, Romero made the following brief remark: “There’s a way to stay true to your aesthetic and still resolve your business problems.” That statement, and Romero’s resolve about his aesthetic, would be greatly challenged just four years later, when the time came to produce Day of the Dead.


After submitting the estimated budget of nearly $7 million for his initial script to UFDC, bad news awaited Romero. Investing that much in an unrated film simply wasn’t something UFDC was willing to risk. If Romero was willing to shoot an R-rated film, UFDC would front the money, however if Romero wanted to go unrated then UFDC would only put up roughly $3.5 million. “We did originally for Dawn [go unrated] in order to break through and show the original picture,” recalls Richard Hassanein. “By Day of the Dead it became more and more difficult for theaters to play movies that were not rated, so we couldn’t gamble our money on not getting an R rating.”


As it turns out, the decision not to fund the larger budget was not a difficult one for Hassanein. “It was easy and I don’t even remember George objecting to it.” This led to Romero attempting to cut the script down to size, without changing the essential storyline. Romero made several passes at the original script, finally revising it down to a version that would still keep his initial vision a possibility. Even then the budget was still too high and unacceptable to UFDC. Towards the end of the summer of 1984, with the fall soon approaching – which meant production was just around the corner – Romero made the tough decision to completely change the script altogether. What once had been described by those involved with the film as Raiders of the Lost Ark or Ben-Hur with zombies would now become a drastically different script. “The most eagerly awaited day in horror film history,” would end up being an entirely different Day than Romero had originally envisioned.
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On the Pittsburgh set of Knightriders. From left to right: director George Romero, UFDC president Richard Hassanein, director of photography Michael Gornick and producer Richard P. Rubinstein. (© 1981 United Film Distribution Company – United Artists Corporation.)








The scaled-back version, the one that hit screens during the summer of 1985, would be radically different from its original incarnation. Romero completed a third version of his second draft, dated September 21, 1984 – just one month before principal photography began – and this formed the basis of the Day of the Dead we know today.


 


The film begins inside a nightmare. The story’s central character, Sarah (Lori Cardille), is sitting on the floor inside a white cinderblock room. She’s staring at a calendar featuring a photo of a pumpkin patch, the month of October. She walks towards the calendar with a tranquil look on her face and, just as she lifts her hand to touch the calendar, dozens of rotted zombie arms punch through the wall to grab her! She suddenly jolts awake, out of her vivid nightmare, and we see that she’s in a helicopter. Sarah is part of a search team patrolling the gulf coast of Florida, looking for other survivors of the zombie apocalypse. Inside the helicopter we meet Sarah’s lover, Miguel (Anthony “Tim” DiLeo), a soldier who is having issues of his own, much worse than nightmares. We are also introduced to helicopter pilot, John (Terry Alexander), and his radio man, Bill McDermott (Jarlath Conroy). The group lands the helicopter so that they can take a closer look at the city they’ve scouted. As Sarah looks on, Miguel calls out on a bullhorn to see if any survivors can hear them. The city is desolate, with debris scattered everywhere. A newspaper blows in the wind; its headline reads, “The Dead Walk!” The group soon discovers that the only things stirring in the dead city are zombies – and lots of them!


The search team returns to their base of operations, a fenced-off compound, where two soldiers, Torrez (Taso Stavrakis) and Johnson (Greg Nicotero), are awaiting the return of the group. Upon heading to a large elevator that will take them below the surface, the group discovers the fresh grave of Major Cooper, who was previously in command.


As the elevator descends into the cave/facility below, the group is met by another soldier, Miller (Phillip Kellams), who taunts them for having embarked on another wasted trip. The group exit into a large corridor, where two other soldiers – Steel (Gary Klahr) and Rickles (Ralph Marrero) – drive up to meet them in one of the facility’s golf carts. They are on their way to round up a couple of zombies for a mad scientist, Dr. Logan, to experiment on, and will need the help of Miguel, who seems wary of going. Sarah notices this and volunteers to assist the soldiers in their task.


The motley crew drives off into the cave until reaching a corral area, which is used to capture zombies for Dr. Logan and his team of scientists. Steel and Miguel climb atop the corral and wait for some of the living dead to approach, which they hungrily do. The first two zombies to appear are a male zombie (Mark Tierno) and a female zombie (Debra Gordon). During the struggle to secure the “specimens”, Miguel accidentally drops his pole, which is holding the female zombie – putting Rickles’ life into immediate danger. Before the female zombie can attack Rickles, however, Sarah swoops in and grabs the pole, defusing the situation. Steel, however, is furious with Miguel and grabs him, hanging him over the corral inches away from the ravenous male zombie. Again, Sarah steps in and takes control of the situation by threatening to shoot Steel if he does not release Miguel. Afterwards, the two captive zombies are brought inside the main complex and chained to a wall to be used later for experimentation.


Back in their private quarters, Sarah sedates Miguel, who falls onto his bed, distraught and defeated. Meanwhile, in the facility dining hall, we are introduced to Ted Fisher (John Amplas), who is arguing with the film’s arch villain, Captain Rhodes (Joe Pilato), about the working conditions in the facility. As they argue, Sarah enters the room and attempts to calm things down by asking for mutual cooperation between the scientists and military personnel. Rhodes, however, takes the opportunity to mock Sarah and her lover, Miguel. Disgusted, Sarah and Fisher leave the dining hall, but not before Rhodes tells her to return that evening for a group meeting. As she leaves, she informs Rhodes that she has sedated Miguel, which will prevent him from attending. This infuriates the Captain.


Sarah heads to the laboratory of head scientist Dr. Logan (Richard Liberty), nicknamed Dr. Frankenstein by both the military personnel and scientific team. Sarah walks in and observes Logan talking into his voice recorder, discussing the specimens he’s currently experimenting on. Just then, she’s startled by Logan’s favorite and most promising subject, Bub (Howard Sherman), who is chained to the wall. Dr. Logan invites Sarah over to see some of his latest findings. On a medical gurney we see an eviscerated zombie (Mike Trcic) and across from it, on another gurney, a zombie (Barry Gress) who’s had his entire face and head cut away to expose the brain. Logan ramblingly tells Sarah that the zombies do not need any internal organs to motivate their desire to eat humans, and that as long as the brain is left intact – the creatures will still attempt to rise up and walk. It’s at this point that Sarah learns the awful truth: unbeknownst to the soldiers, the mad doctor is experimenting on the corpse of Major Cooper. Later, Logan’s deceit will cost him dearly. Suddenly the eviscerated zombie breaks free from one of his bindings and attempts to get up, leaning over with his arm outstretched towards Sarah. His guts begin to slide and then fall out of his abdomen, landing on the laboratory floor with a loud, nauseating splat! Logan quickly moves in and inserts a drill into the zombie’s head, killing it instantly.


Later that evening, in the dining hall, the group meeting is underway. The different factions argue amongst themselves as usual. Tired of listening to the back and forth bickering, Sarah decides to leave, but is told to sit back down by Rhodes. Sarah refuses to do so, in turn causing the megalomaniacal Rhodes to threaten her life. A brief but intense standoff occurs. Sarah eventually returns to her seat. It’s then that Dr. Logan enters the dining hall, and immediately incurs the wrath of Rhodes. It’s obvious that the military are frustrated and ready to leave as soon as possible. The meeting ends with Rhodes giving the scientific group more time to prove that they’re making progress with their research, but he warns that if anyone disobeys his command they will pay with their lives.


Back in her personal quarters, Sarah has another nightmare, this time about Miguel. In it, Miguel is lying on the bed and, as he turns over to face her, his stomach opens up and his guts spill out – just like the eviscerated corpse in Dr. Logan’s lab. She awakens to see Miguel watching her. They argue and Miguel storms out. Upset herself, Sarah also leaves and runs into the soldiers fighting amongst themselves in the hallway. As she is caught up in the brawl, McDermott appears out of nowhere and helps her out of the melee. They both head back to McDermott and John’s living quarters, located further back in the mine, called “The Ritz”. Sarah sits down and engages in a long discussion with John about the group’s situation, and whether or not what they are doing is simply a waste of time.


The next day, Sarah notices Ted Fisher working with the male zombie that was captured earlier in the film. Fisher is attempting to wean the zombie onto something called “Beef Treats”, which has been supplied to them by the Army. Dr. Logan appears at the door requesting that the two accompany him to another room so he can show them something.


Logan takes Sarah and Fisher into another experimentation room, where we once again see Bub, Logan’s star zombie pupil, examining some ordinary household items, including a toothbrush and book. Rhodes and Steel appear at the door, enter the room, and walk over to observe what Logan is doing with his specimen. Logan gives Bub a telephone and encourages him to use it. After noticing Rhodes in his military uniform Bub salutes the captain, but Rhodes stubbornly refuses to return the gesture. In an attempt to impress the soldiers, Logan takes Sarah’s unloaded pistol and hands it to Bub, who immediately takes to the weapon and points it directly at Rhodes, pulling the trigger.
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Front and back of a promotional film market flyer by the UFDC advertising their upcoming release, Day of the Dead, 1983. (Courtesy of Michael Gornick.)








Back at the corral the next day, Sarah, Miguel, Miller, Steel, and Johnson are busy capturing more zombie specimens for the mad doctor. All hell is about to break loose. The collar on the end of the pole that Miguel is holding breaks, releasing the zombie in that collar (Barbara Russell). The zombie quickly ambushes Miller and bites his throat out, unleashing a chain reaction of carnage that leaves Johnson and Miller dead, and Miguel with a chunk bitten out of his arm. Miguel runs through the mine screaming, with Sarah in pursuit, eventually reaching “The Ritz”. John and McDermott emerge from their trailer and see Sarah knock Miguel unconscious with a rock, then use a machete to amputate his arm, cauterizing the wound with a torch.


At this point Steel, Rickles, and Rhodes show up with weapons drawn. After a heated standoff with John and Bill, Rhodes backs down, telling them that Miguel is no longer allowed inside the complex and that the following day the remaining soldiers will destroy any living dead left in the cave.


After settling Miguel inside “The Ritz”, Sarah decides to head back inside the complex to get painkilling medication for him, with McDermott accompanying her as protection. In the complex, inside Dr. Logan’s lab, Sarah searches for morphine. As she looks around, McDermott picks up Logan’s voice recorder and pushes the play button, exposing the private ramblings of the mad doctor, and then discovers the severed – and re-animated – head of Johnson! Sarah and McDermott quickly leave the laboratory and spot Logan walking down to Bub’s experimentation room with a small bucket. They follow him and hide inside another room to watch what he’s up to. The doctor teaches Bub how to listen to music – Beethoven’s “Ode to Joy” – on a tape recorder, and rewards his pupil with the bucket, which is filled with bloody chunks of meat. As Logan starts to leave the room, he’s grabbed by Rhodes. Upon opening the doctor’s freezer, the soldiers discover the butchered remains of their comrades, which Logan has been feeding to Bub. Enraged by this discovery, Rhodes guns down the mad doctor.
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Page 100 of George Romero’s original, more expensive script. In this version, Gasparilla is the main villain, whilst Mary would eventually be melded with another character to create Sarah – played by Lori Cardille. (Courtesy of Tim DiLeo.)








Back at “The Ritz”, John has grown concerned that it’s taken so long for McDermott and Sarah to return, so he heads out to investigate. After John leaves, Miguel begins to come around, clutching the religious medallions around his neck. After concealing himself behind some piles of clutter, John aims his gun at the soldiers, but Rhodes turns the tables by threatening to kill Fisher, McDermott, and Sarah unless John surrenders, which he does.
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Page 36 of Taso Stavrakis’ shooting script, highlighting part of scene 35 – complete with Stavrakis’ notes for his character, Torrez. (Courtesy of Christian & Taso Stavrakis.)








With a gun to Fisher’s head, Rhodes tells John that they are leaving on the helicopter without Sarah, McDermott, and Fisher. John refuses the order, so Rhodes executes Fisher and then orders Steel and Rickles to shove Sarah and McDermott into the zombie-infested corral. John retaliates by punching Torrez, but Rhodes orders Steel to pummel John, hoping that it will “knock some sense” into him and convince him to pilot them to safety.


A siren echoes through the cave. Miguel, completely insane now, has taken the elevator up to ground level. Inside the facility, Bub has managed to free himself from his chain. Besieged by zombies, Sarah and McDermott navigate the pitch-black mine as they look for a way out, narrowly escaping with their lives.


Back at the corral, Rhodes waits for Steel and Rickles to return from investigating the cause of the elevator siren when John suddenly ambushes Rhodes, leaving him unconscious and disarmed. At the elevator bay, Steel and Rickles discover that Miguel has torn the control-box wiring out. Rhodes and Torrez come around to discover that John is gone and has taken their weapons.


Back inside the mine, John searches for Sarah and McDermott as they travel through the darkness, surrounded by zombies. Above-ground, Miguel unlocks the fenced gate entrance to the facility, and swarms of living dead waiting just outside flood in. Miguel runs back to the elevator and lies down as the zombies engulf him. As he’s being devoured by the zombies, he finishes his suicidal mission by pressing the button on the elevator, which descends back down into the complex. As the elevator lowers, revealing hundreds of zombies, Rhodes panics and takes off in one of the facility’s golf carts, abandoning his men.


The action now cuts back to Bub, who discovers the dead body of Logan. It slowly dawns on the pathetic creature that the doctor is no longer alive, and the zombie lets out a painful cry for his fallen friend. He then sees pistols lying on the floor.


The living dead swarm inside the facility as the soldiers each go their separate ways, trying to escape. Among the first casualties are Torrez and Rickles, both torn apart by zombies, their agonized screams echoing through the cave. Steel makes it back inside the complex, with hundreds of zombies in pursuit. He runs into Bub, who is now armed and fires his gun at Steel. After ducking into the experimentation room to dodge Bub’s gunfire, Steel is accosted by a zombie who bites a chunk out of his neck. His fate is sealed.


Back in the mine, John has caught up with Sarah and McDermott. He gives them each a weapon and they lay waste to any zombies in their path as they make their way to an emergency escape located in a silo.


Meanwhile, Rhodes has grabbed another weapon from the arsenal room and is making his way back through the complex when he runs into Bub. Stunned, Rhodes quickly attempts to load his machine gun as Bub takes aim. Bub opens fire on the captain, knocking him to the floor. Rhodes manages to get back up, and staggers down to the door that leads to Logan’s laboratory. Slowly, agonizingly, Rhodes finally makes it to the door, screaming for Bub to follow him, and is horrified to find more zombies waiting on the other side. Rhodes turns to see Bub aiming once again right at him. Bub fires his pistol one last time, hitting Rhodes in the stomach, and makes a mocking salute to the fallen captain. The zombies tear Rhodes in half, in one of the most spectacularly gory deaths ever put on celluloid. As the zombies make off with his legs, Rhodes screams, “choke on ’em”. We are then treated to the patented Romero gore montage, as zombies feast on the entrails and limbs of the soldiers.


Aboveground, we find Sarah, John, and McDermott racing to the helicopter. Sarah opens the helicopter door and is grabbed by a zombie! She screams and then suddenly wakes up – she’s had another bad dream. But this time she awakens in paradise rather than a nightmarish reality. She’s on a beach. She sits up and sees a beautiful blue sky and ocean, as John fishes and McDermott feeds seagulls. She reaches into her duffle bag and pulls out a handmade calendar. She takes her marker and crosses out November 4 – another day alive … but for how much longer?


 


In the May 4, 1983 26th International Film Annual edition of Variety magazine, Laurel Entertainment took out a nine-page spread advertising their upcoming projects, including The Stand, Creepshow 2, George A. Romero’s Frankenstein and several other titles that would ultimately never be produced. Each ad featured preliminary artwork with some basic credits. One of the titles featured was Day of the Dead. The art featured part of the moon on the top with the words, “First there was Night of the Living Dead.” Just below that was a depiction of the sun rising with the words, “Then Dawn of the Dead,” and at the bottom, taking up the majority of the layout, was a painting of the sun with a zombie face in it, numerous other zombie faces trailing behind it, and the words, “And now George A. Romero’s Day of the Dead.” This artwork, created by Bill Spewak, would end up being the US poster art for the film and was eventually turned into crew sweat shirts and t-shirts. It also advertised, among its credits, David E. Vogel as the film’s co-producer: yet another change that was on the way before all would be said and done for the Laurel production.


A little over a year later, pre-production began on Day of the Dead, with the production team beginning their odyssey with the original, grander version of Romero’s tale. However, no one was aware of the upheaval in store for the director’s epic vision.
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Actor Howard Sherman, aka Bub, preparing to have his face cast at Tom Savini’s house in Pittsburgh. August 1984. (Photo courtesy of Dave Kindlon.)
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Tom Savini casts Howard Sherman’s face as Greg Nicotero assists. (Photo courtesy of Dave Kindlon.)
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Howard Sherman waiting for the casting process to be completed, with graffiti provided by the effects crew. (Photo courtesy of Dave Kindlon.)

























Chapter 2 The Day is Coming





Section A: Zombies Are Us



By early July 1984, pre-production work on Day of the Dead had kicked off. A large chunk of the prep work was being tackled by Tom Savini and his initial make-up effects crew at his home in Pittsburgh. While Day of the Dead would allow Savini to demonstrate how far his make-up effects skills had come, it was his acting that Savini really wanted to showcase. Having played smaller roles in previous Romero films like Dawn of the Dead and Creepshow, and more significant parts in Martin and Knightriders, Savini was interested in the role of Day of the Dead’s main villain, Captain Rhodes. Unfortunately for him, Romero had other ideas. “Yes, I really wanted to play Rhodes,” recalls Savini. “He didn’t think I could do the make-up effects and play Rhodes. He thought that was a big chunk.” Looking back it’s something that Savini still wishes he had pursued with Romero. “He didn’t say no right off the bat. When he first gave me the script I said I wanted to play Rhodes. But his first script was so monumental, it was so big. It was like Indiana Jones with zombies, I mean it was a huge adventure. He had to cut back and back and back on that thing every time they lowered the budget. But back then maybe because it was so big that he thought … and there was so much going on effects wise that maybe that’s why he thought [that I couldn’t do both] … maybe I should have just kept badgering him about being Rhodes. I don’t know.”


The talented crew assembled by Savini was basically a team of young “prospects” who would eventually become “all-stars” in the make-up effects industry years later. The first hire on Savini’s gang was a young and eager fan named Greg Nicotero. In fact, Savini didn’t actually hire Nicotero – it was George and Christine Romero who offered him the opportunity to be a part of the film.
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John Vulich sculpting the amazing face that would become Bub’s. September 1984. (Courtesy of Dave Kindlon.)








Greg Nicotero grew up a horror and sci-fi fan in Pittsburgh, and had a special affinity for George Romero’s films – Dawn of the Dead in particular. Nicotero first met Romero when he was in his early teens in the mid- to late 1970s, while on vacation in Rome, Italy with his family. Romero would remember the young and confident fan after returning to Pittsburgh. During the production of Creepshow, Nicotero was able to visit the set, and became even chummier with Romero by appealing to his love of video collecting. “This is the funniest thing,” recalls Nicotero. “I took a list … my dad’s a big video collector and I knew George was as well. So when I went to visit I had taken the list and when I went to see George I said, ‘Oh, here’s a list of all the movies that my dad has on video and if you ever want any copies …’, and he went, ‘Wow!’ He went through and he circled about twenty movies that he was interested in, so that weekend I stayed up the entire weekend and copied all twenty movies. And on Monday morning I drove back out there and handed him a box. He’s like, ‘Did you stay up all weekend?’ I’m going, ‘Nah! It was no big deal.’”


Flash forward to 1984. It was just another ordinary day when an opportunity presented itself to Nicotero – an opportunity that would change his life forever. “When Day of the Dead came up, I had driven downtown to have lunch with George and Chris [Romero] and they said, ‘Hey, we just got a green light on Day of the Dead. Do you want a job?’ They had offered me a job on Creepshow, but I had to turn it down, and I thought, ‘You know what, I’m not going to make the same mistake twice.’” During this time, Nicotero was going to college to become a doctor, but that didn’t matter now. Having the opportunity to work on the sequel to his favorite horror film of all time? There was no way he could say no! During the years in between Creepshow and Day of the Dead, Greg had also become good friends with Tom Savini. “I instantly called Tom and said, ‘I just got hired on Day of the Dead, I want to work as your apprentice.’ That’s how it fell into place. It was just me going to visit them one day and they said, ‘Oh yeah, we’re getting ready to do Day of the Dead,’ and that’s it. It was literally as simple as just, ‘Are you interested?’”


Having Nicotero on board would provide a sort of comfort blanket, if you will, for Savini and Romero. “It was a very exciting premise for George,” explains Nicotero. “Because they felt to have somebody sort of keep Tom on track and sort of manage the department, like order the supplies, get the résumés together, and sort of organize purchasing, as well as breaking down the shooting schedule – all the stuff that Tom never really needed to do before, because he never had a big show like this. This was a really big, complicated movie and they wanted to make sure that Tom was free to concentrate on the gags.”


One of Nicotero’s first duties was to read Romero’s script – the second version of the first draft – and break down the number of effects shots that would be in the film. He compiled 99 special effects sequences from that original version, 24 of which were considered essential and would not be cut during any possible script revisions. After putting together the effects list, he turned his attention to assembling candidates for Savini’s crew. He went through Savini’s mail and files for names, some of which included Howard Berger, Everett Burrell, John Vulich, Dean Gates, Mike Maddi, Steve Fiorilla, and Rich Alonzo. Four of those names would eventually end up working on the production, and all would end up working in the effects industry in some capacity or another.


An effects budget was completed and Nicotero began ordering supplies and materials for the production. With the years passing and his skills sharpening, Day of the Dead would provide Tom Savini the opportunity to charge Laurel a premium for his efforts this time around. “I only made $15,000 for Dawn of the Dead and that was including paying for materials and for helpers, but I wanted to make up for that on Day of the Dead,” says Savini. “So I think it was about $85,000 … $80,000 or $85,000.” In a July 19, 1985 interview titled “Dead Man Tells Tales”, with Al Walentis of the Reading Eagle, Savini estimated that $33,000 was spent on materials and supplies for the production’s make-up effects.


Having finished putting together a selection of candidates for Savini to consider, Nicotero then turned his attention to contacting other make-up artists with regard to purchasing any leftover prosthetic body parts they might have around their shops. Artists such as Dick Smith, Tom Burman, Carl Fullerton, Steve Johnson, and Ed French were all contacted and eventually deals would be struck with three of them.


$1,000 was spent on two latex and polyfoam emaciated corpses from Steve Johnson – plus a surprise severed head thrown in as well. Ed French sold the production some burned hands and arms, some severed legs, a few gelatin heads, and a box of miscellaneous gory parts for $200. Finally, a deal was struck with Carl Fullerton that would allow Savini to rent three body molds from the film Gorky Park, which he could use to fabricate his own bodies. Nicotero would later make a trek to Rye, New York to work on this task (more on that later).


 


The next artist to join Savini’s crew – on July 18 – was mechanical expert Dave Kindlon. Kindlon was from Rochester, New York and had met Savini prior to Day of the Dead, when Savini came to his hometown for a convention. Kindlon’s friend, Pat Tantalo, who would also work on the film’s pre-production, took Savini to check out Kindlon’s small studio and see his friend’s work. Savini was so impressed with Kindlon’s talent that he promised to hire him on his next project. That next project ended up being the Tales from the Darkside episode “Inside the Closet”, for which Kindlon worked on the “Lizzie” creature. Kindlon accepted the offer, even though he had been working for several months on The Muppets in New York City. After completing work on Tales from the Darkside, Kindlon returned home to Rochester unsure if he had made the right decision. Not long after that, however, Savini again contacted him with an offer to work on Day of the Dead. Kindlon remembers the production fondly. “It was one of the best work experiences I’ve ever had. It was one of the best films I’ve ever worked on; I’ve worked on a bunch over the years. Probably the most fun I’ve ever had on a movie.”
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Dave Kindlon at his work bench creating one of several mechanized heads used in the film. Summer 1984. (Courtesy of Dave Kindlon.)








Meanwhile, prep continued at Savini’s abode. A cast of Nicotero’s head was taken on July 20 to be used as one of the soldiers, who is killed and decapitated early in the script. The eventual script overhaul would lead to Nicotero having a larger part in the final version, due to the fact that they had already cast his head and started work on the head’s fabrication.


On July 23, another member of the crew was added when sculptor Derek Devoe was hired. Devoe would handle a lot of the sculpting duties on the generic zombie appliances that were used extensively on the film. He also designed an early make-up effects crew t-shirt featuring a skeletal zombie figure wearing a large belt buckle, with the initials SMUD on it, which was an acronym for “Suck My Un-dead Dick”. Devoe only lasted on the crew until August 12, when he returned home to Rochester, New York. If you ask the other effects guys who were there, you’ll get different stories as to why Devoe was let go from the crew, and none are 100 percent sure – even Savini couldn’t remember exactly why Devoe was let go. “Well, it’s hard to say. I know Derek’s work was great,” says Mike Trcic, soon to join the crew. “I don’t know if there were personality conflicts or it just turned out that Tom [Savini] had to take a cut in the crew at that time. I thought, [with] me being low man on the totem pole, I thought, well I’m out, and Tom said, ‘Nah, you’re not making enough money for me to fire you.’ So, I guess Derek got axed.”


“You know, that’s an interesting question, ’cause I was right there for all of that, and for some reason right now, I’m like, I can’t say exactly what happened,” laughs Dave Kindlon. “I know he was on very early on the project – very, very early – and I think they just didn’t mesh.”
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John Amplas preparing to get his head cast at Tom Savini’s house. (Courtesy of Dave Kindlon.)








“It could have been because by the time we were done sculpting stuff, it was time to then turn around and start going to set and applying things, and I don’t think that was Derek’s deal,” says Greg Nicotero. “I don’t think Derek was an application guy, I think he was a sculptor.”


What is known for sure is that when Devoe left Pittsburgh, another make-up artist, John Vulich, flew in that same day. (Unfortunately, Devoe could not be reached for an interview for this book.)
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Dave Kindlon, Mike Trcic, and Derek Devoe working on molds at Tom Savini’s house, summer 1984. (Courtesy of Greg Nicotero.)








As previously mentioned, Pat Tantalo was also around for the pre-production work. Like Derek Devoe, he wasn’t brought onto the production in the mine and afterwards wrote, along with Devoe, a scathing mini-comic entitled Tommy, Dearest about working on the film’s prep for Tom Savini. Some of the jabs contained in the comic included dealing with Savini’s ineptitude during the prep, his monstrous ego, and how he would refer to himself as “The Fucking President”. “He relished in torturing us and he tortured us a lot,” says Greg Nicotero about Savini. “Especially, I remember one specific time when we were in his basement cleaning stuff out and there was a plaster mold that was wounds from Dawn of the Dead, like a tray mold that he had sculpted wounds, done from this mold. And we were like bowing down to, ‘Oohh, Dawn of the Dead!’ And he was like, ‘Oh you like that?’, ‘Oh my god yeah, it’s so great! We should run it!’ And he literally took a hammer and smashed it in front of all of us, just to sort of prove that he’s Tom Savini and he can do whatever he wanted. And that’s where the ‘I’m the fucking President’ came from. ’Cause every once in a while, if anybody ever disagreed with him or had anything to say that was contrary to him, he would just say, ‘You guys don’t know anything. I’m Tom Savini. Go fuck yourself,’ and would pull out Fangoria magazine and read – that was back when they had the free subscriber ads. There was one ad that was like – I remember it ’cause Tom read it over and over again – it said, ‘I would disembowel my sister for you, Eric the Demon Dog,’ that was it. And then Tom would be like, ‘See, look, my name’s in the free subscriber ads.’ He would just do that to prove to us that he was the man.”
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At Savini’s house, Tom Savini and Dave Kindlon begin casting John Amplas’ head for the actor’s upcoming death scene. This effect would eventually be handled without the use of a prosthetic. (Courtesy of Dave Kindlon.)
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35 contovED:

RitoDES
You think I'm fuckin' arousd, Steel,
wrong. Now you got 'til a count
That's two you used up...
three. ... four....

0B stands at the back of the room.

088
ste down, Sarah.

SARAR
What 1s this, a die.

J08%
Shut up, Sarah, and sit down!

RioDES
That's five, Steel.

EHODES ratses his .45 and sights down the barrel at the soldfer's fore-
head. His finger tightens on the trigger. STEEL finally reacts.
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Ho turne tovard SARAE, 14fts his weapon and cocks the hamer back. JOBY | 7 P
takes a step forvard, knocking his chatr aside, but.... S

£0 everyone's relief, SARAH sits down at her place.

RHODES locks eyes with the woman. Safling, he holsters his pistol. STEEL
follows suic. RHODES struts out from behind his table, victorious.

RHODES
Anybody else have any questions
about the vay things are gouna run

e riann = o T
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Be scans che room. Nobody saya anything. Nabody moves it
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Thts atn’c o goddemn €461d extp, people, §
this io's fuckin' EARI 1% NOF DO TN AT
THIS CAVE FOR MY HEALTH! I'M DOWN HERE Tdd
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RHODES replaces THE PROSECUTOR on the floor. He sailes at MARY
pointedly as he starts his speech.

RHODES
Sir. You were talking abou...influence.
People suinging their veight around,
en't that the vay you put 4t? Well,
1t's no secret that it vas...influence
that brought Private Toby Tyler to hi:
recent. .. standing 1 the community.

MARY
(Standing) Sir. Tyler s nnocent of
any crime against the state. Captain
Rhodes 1s...

GASPARILLA
(With a mouthful of mango) Miss Henried,
1 think you better. ..

ARy
-..Captatn Rhodes 1s trying to...

GASPARILLA
(Spitting a wad of chewed pulp into his
hand) MISS HENRIED, SHUT THE HELL UP!!!

MARY eyes indicate her frustration and anger but she does, in fact,
shut up. GASPARILLA plops his handful of fruit-pulp onto the Eloor,
wiping his fingers on A LARGE TERRYCLOTH TOWEL provided especially
for these occassions.

GASPARILLA
I've listened ta you...I've listened ta
all o' you...once oo often. Now I b'lieve
Cap'n Rhodes has a legic'mit grievance
aginse this boyfriend o' yours and yore
gonna siddovn an' Lissen o 1t des 1tke
the Teat of us.

MARY sits slouly. RHODES doesa't Tub in his victory with a look her
way. In stead he presses on according to the rules of order.

RHODES
I don't want to take up a lot of time
wich this. Mr. Tyler shot a prisoner
against orders. Sergeant Carter here
was a vitness. I've Tepremanded Tyler
and had hin sent outside. It's as simple
s tha.

(coNTTNUES)
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GEORGE A. ROMERO — “I
always thought of my zombie
films as a trilogy. In ‘Night Of
The Living Dead,’ the
revolutionary society appears,
but the operative society still
seems 1o be in control at the end.
In ‘Dawn Of The Dead’ the
balance of both societies are
equal. In ‘Day Of The Dead’ the
revolutionaries will be in
control.” The final chapter of
George A. Romero’s trilogy is
ready for the world. Are you
ready for it? The Master of the
Macabre who haunted your
mind with “Night Of The Living
Dead” and caused your skin to
crawl in “Dawn Of The Dead” is
now ready to give you an
experience you will never forget,
“Day Of The Dead.”
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